I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


A. 	 THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION ERRED BY FINDING THAT 
COMPLAINANT POWERS PROVED A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF 
DISCRIMINATION. 

B. 	 THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION ERRED BY FINDING THAT 
RESPONDENT WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES 
FAILED TO PROVIDE THE ACCOMMODATIONS REQUESTED. 

C. 	 THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION ERRED BY FINDING THAT 
RESPONDENT WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES 
DID NOT ENGAGE IN THE INTERACTIVE PROCESS AND FINDING 
THAT COMPLAINANT POWERS DID 

D. 	 THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION ERRED BY FINDING THAT 
COMPLAINANT POWERS MITIGAGED HER DAMAGES. 

E. 	 THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION ERRED BY FINDING THAT DMV 
ENGAGED IN SPOLIATION OF EVIDENCE 

F. 	 THE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION ERRED BY FINDING THAT 
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE WILSON'S FNDINGS OF FACT WERE 
SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD. 

II. STATEMENT OF CASE 

In 2010 Renee Richardson Powers (hereinafter "Powers") was diagnosed as having a 

traumatic brain injury resulting from an event that occurred 30 years ago. She sought assistance 

to obtain employment with the West Virginia Department of Rehabilitation (hereinafter 

"Rehabilitation") in November 2009. (Respondent's Exh. 14, Bates Stamp 690-700, 706)1. 

Powers would "absolutely NOT consider" a job that required reading or pressure to work fast. 

(Dec. 13, 2013, Public Hearing Tr. pp.122:17-123:5) (Respondent's Exh. 14, Bates Stamp 771) 

1 Because of some confusion before the hearing over the submission of exhibits Petitioner and 
Respondent each provided a set of exhibits. The exhibits referred to in this brief are contained in 
the four notebooks entitled, "Renee L. Richardson-Powers v. WV Division of Motor Vehicles, 
Docket No.: EDS-94-12 Hearing Exhibits Volume I-IV" in the Human Rights Commission 
record. 



(Emphasis provided in text). To learn a task she needed it presented in a step-by-step format and 

with repetition. (Respondent's Exh, 14, Bates Stamp 695). 

As part of her rehabilitation services, Powers was referred to Harold Slaughter, a licensed 

psychologist, for an evaluation. His report included a diagnosis of traumatic brain disorder. 

(Respondent's Exhibit 39, Bates Stamp 62-65). Mr. Slaughter sent the report to Powers' 

rehabilitation counselor who left a copy for Powers to pick up and mailed it to her twice. (Dec. 

12,2013 Public Hearing Tr., p. 191) (Dec. 13,2013 Public Hearing Tr. pp. 120:7-121:3,126). 

Several months later, Powers interviewed for the position of Customer Services 

Representation (hereinafter "CSR") at the West Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles 

(hereinafter "DMV"). The duties of the position included: 1) Process, record, and issue drivers' 

license, vehicle registration, vehicle titles, and related documents; 2) Understand laws, policy, 

and procedures; 3) Operate complex office equipment on a regular basis; 4) Greet motorists in 

person or by telephone and to answer their questions; 5) Explain necessary forms, fees, taxes, 

and surcharges including boats and motorcycles; 6) Enter data into the computer and access 

previous registration data and to update or enter new information; 7) Review documentation to 

ensure that all information is complete and accurate and access fees; 8) Communicate 

effectively, both orally and in writing; and 9) Support other staff members as needed. 

(Respondent's Exh. 3). 

When asked by the DMV whether she was able to function in an environment that 

involved frequent change, she wrote that it was not a problem. (Dec. 13, 2013, Public Hearing 

Tr., p. 120:13) (Respondent's Exh. 13). When it became clear that reading was an essential 

function of the job, Powers failed to disclose that she would "absolutely not" consider a job that 

required reading. (Dec. 11,2013, Public Hearing Tr., pp. 31:14-21-32:1-3) (Dec. 13,2013, 
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Public Hearing Tr. pp.122:17-123:5) (Respondent's Exh. 3) (Respondent's Exh. 14, Bates Stamp 

771) (Respondent's Exh. 16, Bates Stamp 445,456,458,459,461,462, 771). The job was fast

paced, but Powers failed to inform the DMV that she would "absolutely not" consider a job that 

required pressure to work fast, something that just a few weeks earlier she had told her 

rehabilitation counselor. (Respondent's Exh. 14, Bates Stamp 771). 

Another essential function of the CSR job was the ability to give customers correct 

information, but Powers failed to tell the DMV that she was easily confused and had difficulties 

comprehending and retaining information. (Dec. 11, 2013, Public Hearing Tr. pp., 30:14-33:17) 

(Respondent's Exh. 16, Bates Stamp 191). She was unable to remember what to say even when 

answering the telephone or what was discussed in a meeting. (Respondent's Exh. 16, Bates 

Stamp 261, 263-264). Although Powers indicated during the interview that she was a team 

player, she acknowledged later that she had a difficult time getting along with people. 

(Respondent's Exh. 16, Bates Stamp 191). 

Powers was given written information prohibiting disability discrimination. 

(Respondent's Exh. 56) DMV's application for employment began with a statement that the 

DMV would provide reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities and included a 

telephone number for assistance. (Respondent's Exh. 6). Information prohibiting discrimination 

was displayed in the workplace and the Employment Handbook gave instructions on how to file 

a claim for discrimination. (Feb. 10,2014, Public Hearing Tr., pp. 116:19-117:6) (Feb. 11,2014, 

Public Hearing Tr. p. 29) (Respondent Exh. 6 and Complainant's Exh. 49, pp. 5-8). 

Shortly after she began her employment with the DMV Powers told her supervisor that 

because of her brain injury she was able to learn a task when presented in a step-by-step format, 

through repetition, and note taking. (Dec. 10, 2013 Public Hearing Tr. pp. 159:7-160:2) 
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(Respondent's Exhibit 2, entry 3-28-10 to 4-1-10.) She acknowledged that she was trained in 

this manner. (Dec. 10, 2013 Public Hearing Tr. pp. 152, 155-156, 165, 170) (Dec. 11, 2013 

Public Hearing Tr., p. 42) (Respondent's Exh. 38, Bates Stamp 9). 

Powers' explanations on how she was injured and whether she had been diagnosed with a 

brain injury changed frequently so Powers' supervisor asked for documentation. (Dec. 12, 2013 

Public Hearing Tr., pp. 188:21-191 :13,287:8-288:3; 315:7-316:9) (Dec. 13,2013 Public Hearing 

Tr. pp. 58:14-59:4). According to Powers' rehabilitation counselor, Powers did not want to share 

with anyone information about her brain injury. (Dec. 12,2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 137:19

21; 167:14-19,266:1-4) (Respondent's Exh. 14, Bates Stamp 696, 706). 

In spite of providing the assistance requested, Powers was not able to perform the 

essential functions of the job. She regularly left her work station without purpose leaving behind 

the trainer and customer. (Feb. 10, 2014, Public Hearing Tr., p. 54: 16). She was combative and 

argumentative with customers even when a customer chose to complete a form from the bottom 

up, instead of top down. (Dec. 12, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 135:16-136:8, 156:5-157:8) 

(Feb. 10,2014, Public Hearing Tr., pp. 233:21-234:4; Respondent's Exh. 2). She refused to deal 

with difficult customers and had a negative attitude toward them, even implying in front of a 

customer that he was stupid. (Dec. 12,2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 176:4-20; 203:2-19) (Feb. 

10, 2014 Public Hearing Tr., p. 241: 11-241: 18). She virtually stopped taking notes and referring 

to available resources. (Feb. 10,2014 Public Hearing Tr. pp. 174:10-175:17). Believing that her 

co-workers were out to get her, she rejected their assistance. (Dec. 12, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., 

pp. 184:19-187). She wandered from her work station up to ten times a day. (Dec. 12, 2013 

Public Hearing Tr., pp. 178:4, 180:3, 184:3). 
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In June 2010, Powers' rehabilitation counselor suggested that they develop a plan for 

retaining her job so that they could meet and share it with her supervisor in order to resolve her 

problems at the DMV, but the offer was ignored by Powers. (Dec. 13,2013 Public Hearing Tr., 

pp. 132:7-13; 133; 141 :6-10) (Dec. 13, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., p. 141 :6-10) (Respondent's 

Exh. 14, Bates Stamp 735-736). It was another five weeks before Powers contacted her 

counselor again. (Dec. 13, 2013 Public Hearing Tr. p. 137:6-7) (Respondent's Exh. 14, Bates 

Stamp 697, 735-736). 

It was undisputed that training should take two to three weeks, but after 16 weeks of 

training, Powers' performance failed to improve. (Dec. 12,2013 Public Hearing Tr., p. 218). She 

questioned every simple transaction, continued to refer to her co-workers as "vicious little 

bitches," and tried to "throw them under the bus." (Dec. 12,2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp 189

190:13-15; 219-220:18) (Respondent's Exhs. 2, 25). She regularly abandoned her work station 

and rejected any help from her trainers or co-workers. (Dec. 12, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 

(Dec. 12,2013 Public Hearing Tr. 150:9-10; 21:21; 217:8; 220:17-19; 226:13-15). Although 

documentation of her injury was requested again, Powers was still not willing to share the 

Slaughter report that contained a diagnosis of traumatic brain disorder. (Dec. 12, 2013 Public 

Hearing Tr., pp. 190:18-191:13). 

Powers' rehabilitation counselor did not hear back from her for another two months. 

(Dec. 13,2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 129:16-21; 130:1-4,9-21). The next and last time that 

Powers was in contact with her rehabilitation counselor was in August 2010, for a short phone 

call. (Dec. 13,2013 Public Hearing Tr., p. 139:12-21). 

Powers admitted that she was easily confused and had problems remembering, 

concentrating, understanding, and following directions. (Dec. 11, 2013 Public Hearing Tr. pp., 
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31:14-33:17) (Respondent's Exh. 16, Bates Stamp 191). Because Powers rejected all available 

trainers, her supervisor stood with her for each transaction, something never done before. (Dec. 

12,2013 Public Hearing Tr., p. 197:10-19). 

Dr. Petrick, an expert witness for Powers, described her in the following way: 

1) Preservative resulting in doing the same thing over and over preventing 
the completion of a task; 

2) Sticky resulting in obsessively taxing, emotional, and clingy behavior 
making interaction with people in the workplace very difficult; 

3) Inflexible making frequent change impossible; 

4) Emotional dyscontrol resulting in not being able to control or properly 
express emotions causing significant disruptions in the workplace; 

5) Angry and frustrating resulting in an inability to get along with 
supervisors, co-workers, and the public; 

6) Tangential resulting in not being able to shift from topic to topic causing 
distraction and frustration in the workplace; and 

7) Obsessive causing excessive worry about neatness and order resulting in 
important things not being done. 

(Sept. 23,2010 Evid. Depo.,Tr. p. 51:7-22) (Dec. 12,2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 48-56). 

Dr. Petrick believed that Powers was "as neurological as it gets" and could be seen as 

psychotic. (Sept. 23,2013 Evid. Depo. Tr., p. 84:2). Importantly, and contrary to Powers' theory 

of the case, he opined that her issues were not the result of improper training because she was 

unable to master the job. (Sept. 23, 2010 Evid. Depo., pp., 48:7-21; 70:12-25; 71:9-22; 72:6-18; 

73:3-24; 77:14-25). 

On July 10, 2010, when Powers requested her supervisor to contact a professional outside 

state government, her supervisor sought permission from the Charleston office and sent a 

summary of the situation that was forwarded to the American With Disabilities Committee 
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(hereinafter referred to as the "Committee") under the Department of Transportation who 

initiated the formal ADA process. (Feb, 11, 2014 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 80, 88-89) 

(Respondent's Exh. 12). Only days later, a letter was hand-delivered to Powers explaining the 

ADA process and enclosing several forms to be completed. (Feb, 11, 2014 Public Hearing Tr., 

pp. 80-81, 89, 93-93) (Respondent's Exh. 7). Powers completed the form entitled "Request for 

Reasonable Accommodation" explaining that she learned by repetition and in a step-by-step 

format. (Respondent's Exh. 29). On another form she listed the medical providers that she 

wanted the Committee to contact, but omitted Petrick and Slaughter. (Respondent's Exhs 1 and 

8, Bates Stamp 35; Respondent's Exh. 9, Bates Stamp 35). 

Letters and forms were sent by the Committee to the providers listed by Powers 

requesting information to assist in determining whether Powers was a qualified person with a 

disability and, if so, the accommodations that were needed. (Respondent's Exhs. 30 and 32). The 

Committee enclosed a description of Powers' job setting forth the essential functions of her job. 

(Respondent's Exh. 30). A second letter was sent when none of the providers responded. Id. 

Pursuant to the second request in response one provider noted that Powers learned by repetition 

and through step-by-step procedures; one did not know Powers; one letter was returned as 

unclaimed; and another failed to respond. (Respondent's Exh. 30). 

The form completed by Powers' supervisor informed the Committee that Powers told her 

that she needed to be trained in a step-by-step format and by repetition. (Respondent's Exh. 30 

and 38). She noted that Powers' inability to perform her job was because she could not retain 

information. (Respondent's Exh. 30). Powers' supervisor submitted her daily log concerning 

Powers. (Respondent's Exh. 2). 
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Upon reviewing the above information, the Committee learned that Powers had been in 

training for five or six months and had not progressed past the easiest of transactions. (Feb. 11, 

2014 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 106-107). Further, the information revealed that Powers: 

• Stopped taking notes, using her resources, and paying attention; 
• Refused to listen or follow directions; 
• Displayed a negative attitude; 
• Showed no team effort or the ability to work with her co-workers; 
• Contacted management on almost all transactions; 
• Wandered instead of assisting customers; 
• Gave incorrect information to customers; 
• Continuously questioned her trainers' knowledge and guidance; and 
• Exhibited rude behavior with customers and co-workers. 

(Feb. 12,2014 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 16:7-12; 17:1-21; 18:1-10). 

Powers admitted that she had difficulty with many of the above. (Dec. 11, 2013 Public 

Hearing Tr., pp. 31:14-21; 32:1-19; 33:3-21; 34:1-21) (Respondent's Exh. 3). The Committee 

concluded that the requested accommodations had not enabled Powers to perform the essential 

functions of the job. (Respondent's Exh. 31). 

The chair of the ADA Committee, who was the only person admitted by experience and 

education as an expert on the disability laws, opined that the actions of the DMV and Committee 

conformed with the law. (Feb. 12,2014 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 5:6-21; 6:1-21; 7: 1-13; 14:9-18; 

15:12-21; 18-20; 110-21; 12:1-12). Powers was terminated on September 16, 2010, for 

unsatisfactory job performance during her probationary period. (Respondent's Exh. 11). She 

filed a grievance on September 27, 2010. (Respondent's Exh. 64). 

In January 2011, Powers applied for social security benefits. One of her forms read: "I 

became unable to work because of my disability condition on September 30, 2010 Powers' last 

day at the DMV]" and "I'm still disabled." (Respondent's Exh. 15 Bates Stamp 42). Powers 

disclosed that she had difficulties talking, remembering, completing tasks, concentrating, 
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understanding, following instructions, and getting along with others that were the very issues that 

created problems for her at the DMV. (Dec. 11, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 31: 14-21; 32: 1-14). 

She reported that adapting to change in a work environment, reading, getting along with people, 

and working fast under pressure were difficult for her. (Respondent's Exhs. 14 and 16, Bates 

Stamp 454-459, 513, 771). When Social Security denied her benefits they wrote "[w]e realize 

that your condition prevents you for doing your past job as a license clerk ... " (Respondent's 

Exh. 15, Bates Stamp 99). 

In January 2011, Powers found part-time employment, as recommended by her doctor, 

and stopped looking for substantially equivalent employment. (Dec. 10, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., 

pp. 67:9-21; 68:1-6) (Dec. 11, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 59:2-10) (Respondent's Exh. 16, 

Bates Stamp 16,75,185, and 258). 

In September 2011, Powers filed her Notice of Discrimination Complaint and one month 

later wrote a letter to the HRC stating that she "learned a task by doing it hands on, repetition and 

learn by doing a task in a step by step process." (Dec. 10, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 159; 

229: 19-230:6) (Respondent's Hearing Exh. 38, Bates Stamp 8). She acknowledged that she 

received training in this manner. (Respondent's Hearing Exh. 38, Bates Stamp 9, 12). 

The public hearing was held in Martinsburg, West Virginia before Administrative Law 

Judge Robert Wilson (hereinafter referred to as "ALJ Wilson") on December 9-13, 2013 and 

February 10-12, 2014. Her testimony was very different from what she told Social Security prior 

to filing this lawsuit for damages. She told Social Security that her past employment included 

five positions for which she did the same tasks repeatedly everyday such as stocking shelves, 

making copies, helping with paper work, cashing checks, taking out the trash, wiping down 

furniture, cleaning. (Respondent's Exh. 16, Bates Stamp 251-256). They all required Powers to 
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do the same tasks "every day, all day" and "same day after day," unlike her job at DMV. (Dec. 

11,2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 21:4-21; 24:1-7; Respondent's Exh. 16, Bates Stamp 178, 180

183.) 

Additionally, Powers was permitted to testify to what her previous employers and 

customers said about her and was permitted to introduce letters addressed to her employers 

written by customers, some 15 years old. Respondent objected on the basis of relevancy and 

hearsay, but was overruled by ALl Wilson. (Dec. 9, 2013 Public Hearing Tr., pp. 55,62-63,66). 

The hearsay was cited by ALJ Wilson's decision to prove that Powers was able to perforn1 well 

if trained properly (Order, p. 98). 

Seven months later on September 11, 2014, ALJ Wilson issued his decision finding that 

Powers had established by a preponderance of the evidence that the DMV discriminated against 

her by failing to engage in the interactive process and accommodate her disability. The DMV 

was ordered to pay Powers back and front pay in the amount of $59,768 plus interest, attorney 

fees in the amount of $173,806.86 plus interest, and $12,181 to the Commission. Reinstatement 

was ordered. (Order, p. 121 ~ 5). The HRC did not issue its final order for another 14 months 

virtually a.dopting in total ALJ Wilson findings of fact and conclusions of law. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

To prevail under the Human Rights Act a claimant must show that she is "a qualified 

individual with a disability" which Powers failed to do. Powers told the DMV that in order to 

learn the job she needed to be trained by repetition and in a step by step format. Powers, herself, 

admitted that she was trained in this manner. The DMV attempted to engage in the intera.ctive 

process in order to assist Powers, but Powers resisted. The proper procedures were followed by 

Powers' supervisor including providing the assistance that Powers requested, requesting 
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documentation, and initiating the interactive process. All state and federal requirements were

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