STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case is about the failure of an employer to provide a reasonable accommodation to a 

person with a disability in violation of W.Va. Code § 5-11-9. 

Renee Richardson-Powers suffered a traumatic brain injury in a fall when she was a child. 

[Dec. 9,2013, p. 39,208].' Ms. Powers lost some hearing, and her ability to find the right words to 

express herself was harmed. [Dec. 9, 2013 p. 41; PI.Ex. 75, Petrick Dep., p. 15-17V Now, in order 

to learn and retain how to do new tasks, she must do the task over and over. The task must be 

broken down into a series of steps, and she must do those steps, over and over, the same way every 

time. She aha needs to ask questions, sometimes the same questions repeatedly, until she learns the 

task. [Dec. 9, 2013, p. 45-46; PI.Ex. 75, Petrick Dep., p. 21-23, 25-26] 

Prior to the DMV, Ms. Powers worked, successfully, for Nations BanklBank of America for 

about four years as a drive-through teller and got promoted to commercial teller; for Budget-Rent-a-

Car at the Dulles International Airport as a customer service agent for about four years; for Sam's 

Club for about four years as a cash associate, a receiving clerk, and as a stocker and cashier in the 

pharmacy department; as a secretary/receptionist in a real estate office for about one year; and as the 

coordinator of order fulfillment for Ralph Lauren for about two years. The first two of those jobs she 

left voluntarily; the real estate office and the Ralph Lauren location each closed. [Dec. 9, 2013. p. 

47-]06]. 

Ms. Powers received excellent perfonnance reviews from Sam's Club and was twice 

References in the format [DATE p. number] are to the page of the hearing transcript 
for that date. 

2 There was difficulty with exhibits at the hearing before the ALJ, resulting in some 
duplication. For duplicate exhibits, this brief uses the designation in the transcript, and for 
duplicate exhibits also supplies the number of the exhibit given by DI\1V, respondent below. 
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nominated as employee of the month. [PI.Ex. 35, 36V At Ralph Lauren, Ms. Powers was named a 

"spotlight employee." [Dec. 9, 2013, p. 97-98; Dec. 11,2013, p. 87]. Customers at Budget-Rent-A-

Car wrote letters commending her work, and she was recognized for outstanding customer service in 

Budget's monthly magazine. [Dec. 9,2013, p. 62-73, PI.Ex. 34].4 

At each of these jobs, Ms. Powers received the accommodations she needed to succeed: 

repetition, consistent step by step instruction, and the freedom to ask many questions, some of them 

over and over again. At each job, her employer accommodated her learning needs. [Dec. 9, 2013 p. 

49-50, 60, 78-79, 83-84, 88-89, 106] 

In mid-March 2010, Ms. Powers was hired as a customer service representative (CSR) in the 

Charles Town/Kearneysville office of the W.Va. Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV). [Dec. 9, 

2013, p. 118-119]. Christine Frick (then McIntyre) was the office manager, and Karrie Whittington 

was the office supervisor. [Dec. 13,2013, p. 32; Feb. 10,2014, p. 264]. Ms. Powers repeatedly told 

her supervisors how she learned. [Dec. 9,2013, p. 120; 135-136, 146 -147, 179]. She repeatedly said 

she was confused because her trainers gave differing instructions on how to do each task. [Dec. 9, 

2013, p. 134-136, 146-147, 179-180]. Ms. Powers repeatedly told her supervisors that she had a 

brain injury. [Dec. 12,2013, p. 165-167,212,290-291,304,307,309; Feb. 11,2014 Tr. 167-168; 

Resp.Ex. 21P1.Ex. 4]. Ms. Frick instructed Ms. Powers not to talk about her learning issues with 

anyone. [Dec. 9, 2013, p. 128-129, 133-134, 144, 168-169]. 

3 The DMV did not object to Ex. 35 and 36 as hearsay. [Dec. 9,2013, p. 89-91]. Even 
had an objection been raised, the documents were admissible as records of regularly conducted 
activity. W.Va. R.Ev. 803(6). If there were any deficiency in the authentication, it could have 
been cured at hearing. However, since DMV made no hearsay objection, it is waived. 

These documents are not, as the DMV suggests, hearsay. [Pet. 12]. Ms. Powers 
testified about the work she did that gave rise to the commendations. The documents were 
introduced as proof that letters were written, not as evidence of the services discussed in them. 
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Instead of providing consistent training, DMV insisted that the order of doing a task did not 

matter, and criticized Ms. Powers when she commented that another trainer did the task differently. 

[Dec. 9, 2013, p. 125; Dec. 12, 2013, p. 159-160, 170-172,286; Feb. 10, 2014, p. 143-144,PI.Ex. 

3/Resp.Ex. 23, Weekly Evaluation dated April 5]. Trainers became annoyed with Ms. Powers 

because she asked so many questions. [Dec. 9, 2013, p. 128, 144-145; Dec. 10,2013, p. 225-226; 

Dec. I2,2013,p. 148; Dec. 13,2013,p.;37,Resp. Ex.21PI.Ex. 4,entryfor April 11 to 16; Feb. 10, 

2014, p. 58; PI.Ex. 17IResp.Ex. 24]. As an "accommodation" the DMV assigned as an extra trainer 

for Mr. Powers an individual who was frequently absent and had been disciplined for absenteeism, 

who had reported to work intoxicated, and who was arrested for embezzlement from the DMV. [Dec. 

9,2013, p. 180-183; Dec. 12, 2013, p. 210-211; Resp.Ex. 21P1.Ex. 4, entry for June 6 to June 10, 

2010]. 

In mid-July, Ms. Powers asked that her supervisors contact her brain trauma counselor for 

information about how a person with a brain injury learns. Supervisor Whittington said: "I'm not 

going to call her. I'll never call her." [Dec. 9, 2013, p. 193-196]. The office manager said a DMV 

policy prevented her from calling the counselor. [Dec. 12,2013, p. 312-315, Resp.Ex. 2/PI.Ex. 4]. 

DMV Director Lake, however, said there was no such policy. [Feb. 11,2014, p. 172-173, Resp.Ex. 

21PI.Ex.4]. 

Jill Dunn, General Counsel for the DMV, identified Monica Price, DMV Human Resources 

Manager, as the person who processes paperwork for ADA accommodations. [Dec. 11,2013, p. 93, 

134-135]. But Ms. Price testified that her office is not involved in the ADA process. [Dec. 13,2013, 

p.87-88]. 

Ms. Price also testified that her office had no specific written policies regarding the disability 

discrimination provisions of the WV Human Rights and the ADA. Instead, DMV relied upon DOT 
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policies. However, Ms. Price did not know if the DOT had any such policies. [Dec. 13,2013, p. 95

98]. No training about the ADA process was provided to regional coordinators or office managers. 

[Dec. 13,2013,p.90] 

Ms. Price said that she was not familiar with the term "interactive process." [Dec. 13,2013, 

p.92]. Nor was Ms. Price familiar with the DOT forms for requesting an accommodation, for 

obtaining medical authorization, the ADA Review form or the Manager Interview Form; she had 

never even seen those forms. [Dec. 13,2013, p. 92-94, PI.Ex. 22, 24, 25]. 

Ms. Powers then contacted the state ADA director Penny Hall, who called Ms. Frick on July 

22, 2010. Ms. Frick told Ms. Hall that she could not do anything without proper documentation from 

Ms. Powers. [Dec. 12,2013, p. 323-324, Resp.Ex. 21P1.Ex. 4]. Five days later, and for the first time, 

Ms. Powers was informed by letter from the Director, Human Resources Division. WV Department 

ofTransportation (DOT) that she could apply for a "reasonable accommodation under the ADA." 

[Dec. 9, 2013, p. 201; PI.Ex. 21]. 

With the help of a DOT employee, Ms. Powers filled out a series of forms requesting an 

accommodation on July 30,2010. [Dec. 9,2013, p. 201-206; PI.Ex. 22, 23, 24/Resp.Ex. 8,9]. 

Ms. Powers thought that she was doing well at work during the period after she talked with 

Ms. Hall. She had not been called into the office or reprimanded, and was doing transactions, 

although she knew she still had a lot to learn. [Dec. 9, 2013, p. 209-210]. She felt she was proficient 

in renewals and drivers' licenses after her evaluations. [Dec. 10,2013, p. 156]. Ms. Stake, who 

worked about two windows away from Ms. Powers, said that Ms. Powers was a good worker, that 

she worked hard and tried hard. [Dec. 10,2013, p. 82-83]. Ms. Stake did not recall Ms. Powers just 

wandering around the office. [Dec. 10,2013, p. 83]. However, Ms. Stake observed that Ms. 

Whittington did not like Ms. Powers, that Ms. Whittington had something against Ms. Powers and 
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that Ms. Whittington looked for reasons to write Ms. Powers up or take other disciplinary action 

against her. [Dec. 10, 2013, p. 88, 91-92]. 

On September 15,2010, the DOT/DMV accommodations committee, relying primarily on 

infonnation provided by Ms. Frick, detennined that Ms. Powers had been accommodated, and 

refused any further accommodation. [Dec. 9,2013, p. 210-211; PLEx. 27/Resp.Ex. 7]. The 

committee made no inquiry about whether the training provided to Ms. Powers was appropriate for 

her disability, even though no one on the committee had any knowledge about training for a person 

with a learning disability caused by a brain injury. [Feb. 11,2014, p. 196, 199-200; Feb. 12,2014, p. 

25]. Part of the decision to deny Ms. Powers any further accommodation was the committee's 

inaccurate understanding that Ms. Powers had received one-on-one training and supervision every 

day for a six month period. [Feb. 11,2014, p. 159-162, Resp.Ex. 311PLEx. 26]. 

At the time the ADA review committee reached its decision on Ms. Powers, the committee 

was not aware of the WV HRC rule that one of the specified accommodations of a disability is to 

infonn fellow workers in a way that prepares them to deal effectively with the new employee. [Feb. 

12,2014, p. 43-44]. In fact, as ofNovember 15,2013, Ray Patrick of the DOT ADA review 

committee had not read the Human Rights Commission regulations on accommodations for persons 

with disabilities. [Feb. 11,2014, p. 116]. 

By letter dated September 16, 2010, Ms. Powers was notified that her employment with the 

DMV was being tenninated, effective September 30,2010. [Dec. 9,2013, p. 211; PLEx. 28/Resp.Ex. 

II]. On November 18, 2010, the Division of Personnel infonned Ms. Powers that her name had been 

pennanently removed from certifications of eligible applicants for any position with the DMV. [Dec. 

11,2013, p. 61,145, PLEx. 69, A260-A26I]. 

On September 28, 20 I 0, Ms. Powers filed a grievance over her termination. [Dec. 9,2013 p. 
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214-215; PJ.Ex. 28, 29/Resp.Ex. 64; Dec. 11,2013, p. 39]. On October 14,2010, Gretchen A. 

Murphy, Assistant Attorney General, entered an appearance in Ms. Powers' grievance proceeding on 

behalfof the DMV. [Dec. 9, '2013, p. 216-217; PI.Ex. 311Resp.Ex. 66]. Ms. Kuykendall, one of Ms. 

Powers' trainers wrote a memorandum dated October 14, 2010 about Ms. Powers because she was 

requested by one of her "higher-ups" to write it in response to something DMV had received about 

accusations made against the CSRs who trained Ms. Powers. [Feb. 10, 2014, p. 90-94, Resp.Ex. 35]. 

However, no one was asked to preserve records regarding Ms. Powers. [Dec. 13,2013, p. 32; Feb. 

11,2014, p. 35, A184]. 

Sometime thereafter, the DMV destroyed a tile in Ms. Frick's office containing daily notes 

made by Ms. Frick of Ms. Powers' work, comment cards fr<?m customers of Ms. Powers, and the 

originals of trainers' memoranda, the extant copies of which had redactions. [Dec. 12,2013, p, 236

329; Dec. 13,2013, p. 12-15,21-26,30-31; Resp.Ex. 231P1.Ex. 3]. 

After eight days of hearings, the All made extensive findings of fact, each fully supported by 

references to the record, and found that DMV violated the disability discrimination provisions ofthe 

Human Rights Act. DMV presented no evidence regarding mitigation of damages. The HRC 

affirmed that decision on November 9,2015. [AI-AI2V 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Each of the HRC's findings offact is supported by substantial evidence and its ruling oflaw, 

with the exception of the relief awarded, are correct. 

The HRC made specific findings, each supported by substantial evidence, about why four of 

DMV's witnesses lacked credibility. Those credibility decisions should not be disturbed. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

[A~ refers to a page in the Appendix for Cross-Appeal filed with this brief. 
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Respondent Powers requests oral argument pursuant to W.Va. R.App.P. 19. While this case 

does not involve unsettled questions oflaw, a memorandum decision is not appropriate, as this case 

involves important issues of employment law. 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	 STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"West Virginia Human Rights Commission's findings offact should be sustained by 
reviewing courts if they are supported by substantial evidence or are unchallenged by the 
parties." [citations omitted] 

GMC v. Smith, 216 W.Va. 78, 82, 602 S.E.2d 520, 525 (2004). "Substantial evidence" is 

such relevant evidence, on the whole record, as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate 
to support a finding; it must be enough to justify a refusal to direct a verdict, if the factual 
matter were tried to a jury. 'This is something less than the weight ofthe evidence, and the 
possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an 
administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." The 
reviewing court is not entitled to reverse the finding of the trier of the facts simply because 
the reviewing court is convinced that it would have weighed the evidence differently if it had 
been the trier of the facts. 

Morris Memorial Convalescent Nursing Home. Inc. v. West Vir!2:inia Human Rie:hts Comm'n, 189 

W.Va. 314,431 S.E.2d 353 (1993). 

n[T]he credibility ofthe witnesses [is] for the hearing examiner to detennine." Westmoreland 

Coal Co. v. West Vir!!inia Human Ri!!hts Comm'n, 181 W.Va. 368, 373 n. 6, 382 S.E.2d 562, 567 

n.6 (1989); Martin v. Randolph Bd. ofEduc., 195 W. Va. 297, 304, 465 S.E.2d 399, 406 (1995) (stating 

that "AUs credibility determinations are binding unless patently without basis in the recordn); Fainnont 

Specialty Servs. v. W.Va. Human Ri!!hts Comm'n, 206 W.Va. 86,90; 522 S.E.2d 180, 184 (1999) 

Petitioner DMV ignores the standard ofreview, and instead merely argues that the HRC should 

have made different credibility determinations and different findings offact. 

B. 	 SliBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE HRC'S FINDING THAT MS. 
POWERS PROVED A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF DISCRIMlNATION. 
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The only element of a prima facie case ofdisability discrimination which is challenged by DMV is 

whether Ms Powers could perfonn the CSRjob with a reasonable accommodation. The HRC found that 

Ms. Powers' employment history for the fifteen years before she began at the DMV demonstrated that, with 

an accommodation, she could do the CSR job. [Final Order, pp. 97 -98]. This conclusion was based upon 

detailed findings of Ms. Powers' job duties, each fully supported by the record. [Final Order, A48-A57]. 

Reliance on evidence of Ms. Powers' prior job perfonnance is proper; that evidence is clearly 

relevant for detennining whether a disabled person is able to perform ajob with a reasonable 

accommodation. Gaul v. Lucent, 134 FJd 576, 580 (3rd Cir. 1998); Molina v. Pocono Med. Ctr., 2013 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 120512 (E.D. Pa. 2013), at *5, *14 (evidence ofability to perfonn similar job with an 

accommodation indicates ability to work in new job with an accommodation). How else could one show 

that she could have done the job for the new employer had she been provided a reasonable 

accommodation? 

DMV says that Ms. Powers' testimony was "in stark contrast" with infonnation she provided in a 

Social Security application. [pet I2J. However, Ms. Powers testified that she was told to "keep it simple" 

when filling out the Social Security form. [Dec. 11, 2013, p. 19]. Keeping it simple was required by the 

fonns, as they provided only 3 lines for describing each job. [Resp.Ex. 6, at Bates No. 179 - 184]. The HRC 

found Ms. Power's explanation credible. 

The HRC did not "ignore" the testimony ofneuropsychologist James D. Petrick, Ph.D. [pet, 12].

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